
Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                                

      
KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 

December 14, 2020  

6:00PM 

 

The public may submit public comments for the DISCUSSION agenda item via email, US Mail, 
or by dropping written comments in the Drop Box outside the Town Hall entrance.  Emailed 
comments should be sent to TownComments@kitteryme.org. 

The public may also participate in the meeting via Zoom webinar.  Register in advance for 
the webinar at https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN__iCvFmv6Rk66mRQgcskOzg 
 
After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the 
webinar. Webinar participants will be able to submit questions and comments during a public 
hearing.  
 
Comments received by noon on the day of the meeting will become part of the public record 
and may be read in whole or in summary by the Council Chair. 
 

      

1. Call to Order 

2. Introductory 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Roll Call   

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 

6. Town Manager’s Report   

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes 

• June 8, 2020 - Revised 

• June 15, 2020 – Revised 

• June 22, 2020 

• July 13, 2020 
 

mailto:TownComments@kitteryme.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN__iCvFmv6Rk66mRQgcskOzg


Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board 

a.  (120220-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to interview and reappoint Charles 
 Denault III to  the Board of Appeals for a three-year term to expire 12/31/2023.  

b. (120220-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to interview and reappoint Russell 
 White to the Planning Board for a three-year term to expire 12/31/2023.  

9.          All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town    
             consultants or requested offices.  

              a.     (120220-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to authorize the Town Manager to   
                      work with the Housing Committee on applying to HUD for a Comfort Letter           
                      regarding affordable housing on 45 Woodlawn Avenue (aka Cole Street            
                      property/Emery Field) and to report back to Council on HUD’S response.            

10.       PUBLIC HEARINGS 

    a.  (120220-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 2 
Administrative Code – Paid Time off. 

 
   b. (120220-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on a petition 

for enactment of an ordinance “License Ordinance for Marijuana Establishments” 
in accordance with Kittery Town Charter, Section 11.02. 

 
11.       DISCUSSION 

a.      The public may submit public comments in writing or raise their hand in the   
 webinar for the DISCUSSION agenda. 

b. Chairperson will read written comments into the record. 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comments. 

12.      UNFINISHED BUSINESS   

13.       NEW BUSINESS 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition  

b. (120220-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to reappoint the following Board and 
 Committee members as follows, all terms are three years and will expire on 
 12/31/2023.  

 



Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

• Alan Rindler – Board of Assessment Review 

• Joyce Tobey – Board of Trustees of Trust Funds 

• Christopher Perkins – Capital Improvement Committee 

• Richard Demarco – Parks Commission 

• Gale Turner – Parks Commission 

• Jeffrey Clifford – Economic Development Committee 

• Jeff Brake – Education Scholarship Committee 
 
 
 c. (120220-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal liquor license  
  application from Weathervane Seafoods, 306 US Route 1, Kittery.  
  
 d. (120220-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal liquor license  
  application from Robert’s Maine Grill, 326 US Route 1, Kittery.  
  
 e. (120220-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal liquor license  
  application from the 518 Noodle Bar, 518 US Route 1, Kittery.  
 
 f. (120220-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal liquor license 
  application from the Blue Mermaid, 10 Shapleigh Road, Kittery.  
  
 g. (120220-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal liquor license 
  application from Loyal Order of Moose #444, 76 US Route 1 Bypass,   
  Kittery.  
 
 h. (120220-12) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the renewal of a   
  Special Activity-Amusement permit for Loyal Order of Moose #444, 76 US Route  
  1 Bypass, Kittery.   
 
  i. (120220-13) The Kittery Town Council moves to extend the waiver of   
  enforcement of certain provisions of Title 5.7 Sidewalk Sales until the expiration  
  or termination of the State of Emergency. 
 
 j. (120220-14) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on  
  Title-16 Outdoor Dining on January 11, 2021. 
 
 k. (120220-15) The Kittery Town Council moves to discuss a draft of the 2021  
  Annual Goals.   
 

 
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 

 a. Communications from the Chairperson 

 b.   Committee Reports  



Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION - None   

17. ADJOURNMENT     

         
Posted:  December 10, 2020 



 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

December 14, 2020 
 

 
1. JLUS Review – The Council commented at the last meeting about the Joint Land Use Study and 

various ideas that can be pursued to alleviate the traffic impacts of the shipyard.  Many of the ideas 
Councilors discussed have already been identified and evaluated as part of the Study report.  

The Town generated an action list from the report, and is actively working on a number of the 
recommendations including adding public transit that better suits the shipyard shifts, Love Lane 
Road diet, remote park-and-ride sites in Kittery and Eliot, and investigating opportunities to 
increase incentives for the use of car and van pools.  Additional initiatives are being advanced by 
the JLUS Implementation team including increasing public transit options, investigating potential 
sites for a larger-scale parking/shuttle option, and advancing affordable housing efforts that 
support employees living closer to their worksite (thereby reducing the dependence on single 
occupancy vehicles for commuting).  Enclosed is an update of the workplan for the JLUS. 

2. Clamming – Councilor Lemont asked for an update on clamming in Kittery.  In conversations 
with the Department of Marine Resources, the regional representative confirmed that clamming in 
Kittery will not be permitted until approximately 2 years after the completion of the Pierce Island 
Waste Water Treatment Plant upgrades.  The timeline is based on the number of water quality tests 
required to confirm a safe reopening of clamming.  The anticipated timeframe for this is 2021. 

3. Legislative Cloture – Cloture for the 130th Legislature is scheduled for December 18, 2020 at 
4PM.  In the past, the Council has sought to meet with our Representatives and Senator to discuss 
Town priorities and interests for the legislative session.  Though a conversation is not possible 
prior to Cloture, it may be worthwhile for the Council to determine if there are legislative priorities 
it wishes to communicate about, advocate for, and otherwise track over the legislative session.  

4. Marijuana Petition – The Town has received a certified petition to enact a licensing ordinance for 
adult-use and medical marijuana businesses.  In accordance with Town Charter, the Council must 
hold a public hearing and schedule a special election.  In accordance with Council direction, we 
have worked with the petitioner to develop an alternative licensing ordinance, and land use 
ordinance that could be pursued through a normal ordinance process rather than an election.   

Attached is a comparison of the petition to the drafted Town ordinances.  

5. Commercial Street Parking Both Sides – Councilor Denault requested a review of Commercial 
Street for the possibility of allowing parking on both sides of the road.  Commercial Street is 
approximately 24 feet wide.  Given its narrow width, the road cannot safely support an additional 
parking lane on the west side. 

6. COVID Staffing – Though we have not resumed staggered shifts for employees this fall, we are 
experiencing reductions in available staff in multiple departments.  Federally mandated time off 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

kamaral@kitteryme.org  

 
 

 

mailto:kamaral@kitteryme.org


 

for COVID-related issues including lack of childcare/remote learning, quarantining requirements, 
and testing delays for cases of potential exposure have impacted each department.  I note this 
specifically to request patience and understanding as some tasks and projects are taking longer to 
accomplish due to staff reductions.  We are prioritizing public safety and essential operations, and 
filling in on other work as time and resources allow.  

7. Sidewalk Projects – The Town is working multiple projects related to sidewalks.  As a result, 
there may be some confusion as to how these are moving forward.  Below is a summary: 

• Whipple Road Sidewalk (MDOT project) – MDOT is finishing up the Right of Way 
efforts.  The project is expected to be bid in 2021 and constructed likely in 2022. 

• Walker/Wentworth Sidewalk and Intersection (MDOT project) – MDOT is starting the 
Right of Way effort.  The project is expected to be bid in 2021 and constructed likely in 
2022.  This project will include a new signalized intersection at Walker/Wentworth. 

• Pepperrell Road Sidewalk (Town Project) – Sidewalk reconstruction on Pepperrell (KP 
Post Office area) is scheduled for 2021. 

• Stevenson Sidewalk Extension (Town Project) – Engineering is in process.  The 
engineering will include a cost estimate that will be used to apply for grants to implement 
the project.  Implementation TBD. 

• Pedestrian & Bike Master Plan (Town/KACTS Project) – The project will result in a 
priority list of sidewalk maintenance, upgrades, and extensions, similar to our pavement 
management plan.  Projects will be prioritized using both technical standards (physical 
condition, ADA compliance) and community input (extensions, expansions).  The plan will 
be incorporated into the Capital Improvement Program as a tool to plan for capital 
investment, grant applications, and project planning. 

Upcoming Dates: 
• Santa Parade – Saturday, December 19, 2PM.  Visit KCC website for route 
• Holiday Light Challenge – People’s Choice Vote, December 21 – 23, KCC Facebook Page 
• Town Hall Closed for Christmas Holiday – Thursday, December 24 
• Town Hall Closed for New Year’s Holiday – Thursday, December 31 
• Dog License Renewal – January 31, Town Hall 

 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 



JOINT LAND USE STUDY 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

As of: December 6, 2020 

 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
STATUS RESPONSIBLE 

SHORT-TERM STRATEGIES 
Travel Safety Walking and biking safety signs • Map of sign locations developed with MDOT.  Dig safe 

called, and posts on order.  MDOT providing signs. 
 

Kittery, MDOT 

Travel Safety Clear truck route signage 
 

 Kittery, PNSY, 
SMPDC 

Congestion Real-time gate activity alerts  PNSY 

Transit Regional employer partnerships for transit  ME, Federal 
Agencies 

Transit Expand Communication of Navy TIP program • Develop a clearer understanding of what is and is not 
allowed, and what is amendable.  Analysis of federal 
program is underway. 

 

PNSY 

Parking Expand Park and Ride Landowners • Three sites in and adjacent to Kittery in discussion.  
Discussions ongoing in Sanford. 

• MDOT connecting with landowners to share info on State 
supports available.   

Kittery, PNSY, 
MDOT, SMPDC 

Parking Downtown Kittery parking map • In development, Title 10 amendments are in process that 
will impact the map. 

Kittery 

Parking Adjust downtown parking pricing • Council eliminated four-hour parking in the Foreside. Kittery 

Parking 
 
 

 

Increase parking enforcement downtown • Requires additional police officers to be fully effective.  
COPS grant applied for to add officers to the force.   

• Full-time ACO has been advancing parking enforcement.  
Parking ticket issuance is up 100% over the prior year. 

Kittery 



JOINT LAND USE STUDY 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

As of: December 6, 2020 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
STATUS RESPONSIBLE 

Bike/Walk Boost bike awareness • Discussions resuming with MDOT and Bicycle Coalition of 
Maine to host Heads Up program in Town and on PNSY. 

Kittery, PNSY, 
MDOT, SMPDC 

Housing Re-zone to improve affordability • Council adopted affordable housing ordinances. 
• Effort to advance regional affordable housing options in 

process. 

Kittery 

Regional 
Coordination 

Regional Funding Partnerships • JLUS implementation grant application approved, 
includes funding support for coordinator. 

All 

Regional 
Coordination 

Regional committee participation • Included in JLUS Implementation Grant application All 

Regional 
Coordination 

Quarterly planning meetings • Included in JLUS Implementation Grant application Kittery, SMPDC, 
PNSY 

Regional 
Coordination 

Regional data sharing • Initial efforts in process. SMPDC 

Communications Formal joint communications plan • Review of best practices underway including analysis of 
communications plans for other naval installations. 

Kittery, PNSY 

Communications Social medial public engagement • Included in JLUS Implementation Grant application Kittery, PNSY 

Communications  Emergency communications program • Included in JLUS Implementation Grant application Kittery, PNSY, 
ME 

Environmental Community/military resilience partnership •  Kittery, PNSY, 
SMPDC 

 

 

 



JOINT LAND USE STUDY 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

As of: December 6, 2020 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
STATUS RESPONSIBLE 

MID & LONG-TERM STRATEGIES 
Travel Safety Increase speed and safety enforcement • Requires additional police officers.  COPS grant applied 

for to add officers to the force. 
• Additional speed trailers purchased through COVID 

efforts can be repurposed for speed. 

Kittery 

Travel Safety Traffic calming improvements 
 

• Love Lane one-way approved.   
• Striping plan for pedestrian walkways being developed 

Kittery, MDOT, 
SMPDC 

Congestion Expand Car/van pool incentives • Federal TIPs program research initiated.  Local control 
(PNSY) may allow for expansion of program. 

PNSY 

Congestion Controls on contractor parking and access •  PNSY 

Congestion Staggered work shifts/telework options • Test of staggered and telework was conducted as a result 
of COVID.   

PNSY 

Congestion Gate efficiency solutions •  PNSY 

Congestion Traffic signal near the gate • Walker/Wentworth traffic signal replacement being 
designed.  Funded by MDOT, KACTS and Town 

Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT 

Congestion Bus-only lane on Walker Street •  Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT 

Transit New regional park and rides • Funding strategy being developed for a regional planning 
effort to identify gaps/needs for regional park and rides 

SMPDC, MDOT, 
PNSY 

Transit Extend regional transit • Funding strategy being developed for regional planning 
including local, state, and federal transportation funds 

Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT, NH, 
Federal 



JOINT LAND USE STUDY 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

As of: December 6, 2020 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
STATUS RESPONSIBLE 

Transit Commuter river ferry •  PNSY, SMDPC, 
Regional, 
Federal 

Parking New off-yard parking facility • Site options being considered Kittery, PNSY 

Parking Nearby park and pedal programs • Town initiating a bike/ped master planning effort to 
identify infrastructure needs 

Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT 

Parking Rail spur park and ride •  Kittery, PNSY, 
ME 

Bike/Walk Kittery bikeshare program •  Kittery, PNSY, 
SMPDC, MDOT 

Bike/Walk Design street for bike/ped appeal • Town initiating a bike/ped master planning effort to 
identify infrastructure needs. Grant to support planning 
efforts received. 

Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT 

Bike/Walk Protected bike lanes on bridges • Town initiating a bike/ped master planning effort to 
identify infrastructure needs 

Kittery, SMPDC, 
MDOT 

Bike/Walk Love Lane/Rte 103 road diets • Love Lane one-way approved.   
• Striping plan for pedestrian walkways being developed 

Kittery, MDOT, 
SMPDC 

Housing Mixed-income housing program • See short-term objective Housing  

Economic Resilience Promote manufacturing and commercial spinoffs •  PNSY, SMPDC, 
ME 

Economic Resilience Integrate JLUS findings into economic development 
strategies 

•  Kittery, PNSY, 
SMPDC 



JOINT LAND USE STUDY 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

As of: December 6, 2020 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
STATUS RESPONSIBLE 

Economic Resilience Promote mixed use development • Zoning review underway for priority corridors Kittery 

Environmental Ensure capability of wind energy projects •  PNSY, ME, NH, 
Region 

 



http://www.Maine.gov/dmr 
PHONE:  (207) 624-6550         FAX:  (207) 624-6024 
 
   

 
   
    

 
Shellfish Harvesting Area Classification-Notification of Changes 

 

April 25, 2017 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:  
 
Under the authority of 12 M.R.S.A. § 6172; the Commissioner has made the following change to Area 
No. 2-A, Portsmouth Harbor and vicinity (Kittery) and Isles of Shoals: This notice extends the Prohibited 
area at the mouth of Portsmouth Harbor/Piscataqua River due to the results of the Pierce Island 
Wastewater Facility dye study in New Hampshire and makes administrative changes to the format of the 
legal notice and the map. All existing pollution and biotoxin closures remain in effect.  
 
The boundary descriptions of the area are as follows (struck text is being removed and underlined text is 
being added): 
 
A.  Effective immediately, because of pollution, it shall be unlawful to dig, take or possess any clams, 

quahogs, oysters or mussels from the shores, flats and waters of the following Prohibited area(s): 
1. Piscataqua River: west and north of a line beginning at the most eastern point of Sewards 

Cove running southwest approximately 2500 yards to Kitts Rocks Lighted Whistle Buoy 
“2KR” then southwest approximately 1000 yards to the ME/NH state line southeast of a line 
across the Piscataqua River at the Memorial Bridge; and northwest of a line running from 
Jaffrey Point, Newcastle Island, in New Hampshire, to the dock at Fort Foster, Gerrish 
Island, in Maine.  

2. Isles of Shoals: within 500 feet of the Isles of Shoals islands within Maine jurisdiction. 

If you have questions, please contact Department of Marine Resources, 194 McKown Point Road, West 
Boothbay Harbor, Maine 04575-0008, Tel: (207) 633-9500 Email: DMRPublicHealthDiv@maine.gov.  
During weekends/holidays, contact on duty Marine Patrol Officers through the appropriate State Police 
barracks: from New Hampshire border to Brunswick, barracks 1-800-228-0857; from Cushing/Boothbay 
to Lincolnville/Belfast area, barracks 1-800-452-4664; from Belfast to Canadian border, barracks 1-800-
432-7381. This notice can be viewed on the Department’s website at: 
http://www.maine.gov/dmr/shellfish-sanitation-management/closures/pollution.html. This information is 
also recorded on our HOTLINE (207-624-7727 OR 1-800-232-4733). 
 
Sincerely, 

 
____________________      12:45 PM  
Kohl Kanwit        (Effective Time) 
Commissioner’s Designee – Director, Bureau of Public Health  
 

 

STATE OF MAINE 
D EPARTMENT OF M ARINE R ESOURCES  

21  STATE HOUSE STATION 
AUGUSTA,  MAINE 

0 4 3 3 3 - 0 0 2 1  
 

PATRICK C. KELIHER 
COMMISSIONER 

       PAUL R. LEPAGE 
                 GOVERNOR 

mailto:DMRPublicHealthDiv@maine.gov
http://www.maine.gov/dmr/shellfish-sanitation-management/closures/pollution.html


http://www.Maine.gov/dmr 
PHONE:  (207) 624-6550         FAX:  (207) 624-6024 
 
   

April 25, 2017  

 



 
December 14, 2020 

MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS 
TOWN’S WORKING PLAN VS. PETITION PROPOSAL 

TOPIC TOWN’S DRAFT ORDINANCES PETITION 

Authorized Marijuana uses 

Adult-Use Retail, Care Giver Retail, Adult-Use Cultivation 
Tiers 1 through 4, Manufacturing Facility, Testing Facility, 
Medical Marijuana Cultivation, and Marijuana Medical 
Nursery.1 

Adult-Use Retail, Care Giver Retail, Adult-Use Cultivation Tiers 1 
through 4, Manufacturing Facility, Testing Facility, Medical 
Marijuana Cultivation, and Marijuana Medical Nursery. 

Licensing Authority 
Town Council.  Planning Board has site plan approval 
authority, BOA has special exception use approval 
authority. 

Town Council.   
Petition does not address Title 16 Land Use. 

Fees 
Pre-application fee of $750, then licensing fee varies 
depending on type and size, between $750 and $6,000. 

Base application fee of $500 and then licensing fee varies 
depending on type and size, between $1,000 - $7,500. 

Application 
Furnished by the town upon enactment of ordinance. Furnished by the town within 30 days of ordinance enactment. 2 

Eligibility 

Pre-application must prove application for state 
conditional license, then license application must show 
proof of State conditional license in accordance with State 
Law. 

Must have conditional license from the state in accordance with 
State Law.  

Duration of license 
1 year from date of issuance of State license. 1 year from date of local license issuance. 

Issuance of license 
Town Council by public hearing following a review and 
recommendation on the application by Manager, Police, 
Fire, Code 

Town Council at any meeting within 45 days after submission of a 
completed application and review by Town Clerk 

Issuance of Renewal 
Town Manager, with renewal application and completion 
of an inspection 

Town Council, with renewal application and review by Town Clerk 

License suspension and 
revocation 

Violations of state law or local ordinance. Town Manager, 
Police Chief, Fire Chief and CEO to investigate and 
determine fine or suspension.  Town Council to revoke 
license or hear suspension appeals. 

Violations of state law or local ordinances. Unclear on who will 
conduct investigation or enforcement.  Town Council reinstates. 

 
1 Caregivers have their own licensing requirements per state law. 
2 Licenses will not be issued due to Title 16 Land Use prohibition on marijuana businesses.  Title 16 amendments will be required prior to implementation of Petition ordinance. 



 
December 14, 2020 

TOPIC TOWN’S DRAFT ORDINANCES PETITION 

Transferability 
Transferable with Council approval for a fee. Transferable with Town Council approval 

License Amendment 
Non-substantive changes approved by Town Manager; 
substantiative changes approved by Town Council 

Town Clerk approval 

Number of licenses issued 

Five licenses for storefront businesses (adult use and 
medical).  License cap excludes existing Caregiver home 
occupations.  No limitation on 
cultivation/manufacturing/testing.  First come first serve, 
based on successful completion of pre-application. 

15 for the first 3 years (5 adult-use retail stores + 5 medical care 
giver storefronts +  5 total for cultivation/manufacturing/testing). 
No amending the number of licenses for the first 3 years.  First 
come first serve. 

Allowed zones 
Special Exception C-1, C-2, C-3, and Mixed Use (MU) Petition does not amend Title 16 Land Use which currently 

prohibits marijuana businesses in all zones.  Petitioner 
contemplates the C-1, C-2, C-3, MU and B-PK3 zones.  

License abandonment 
Abandoned license becomes available for new applicant. Town council may issue an abandoned license to another entity. 

Violations 
Graduated $250 to $2,500 per day.  $2,500 per day for 
operating without a license. 

$250 per day 

Performance and safety 
standards 

Control of odors, design of building must be in keeping 
with the character of the neighborhood, parking shall 
conform to title 16, customer access space shall be 400 – 
1000 square feet, controlled access areas, fires 
suppression and fire alarms to the satisfaction of the fire 
chief, yearly affidavit from a master electrician stating the 
electrical components can meet the electrical load 
demands, panic buttons and video surveillance to the 
satisfaction of the police chief. 

Not discussed in petition 

Buffers 
1,000 feet from public and private school, 500 feet from 
licensed daycare 

1,000 feet from public school or church. 

 

 
3 Town rezoned and eliminated the B-PK zone in 2018. 



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL Unapproved Minutes 

JUNE 8, 2020  

Remote Meeting 

6:00 PM 

 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 7 

Adoption - Replace item 7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes with The Kittery Town Council 8 
statement condemning acts of Racism 9 

Adoptions - Under New Business, Donations/gifts received for Council disposition The Kittery 10 
Town Council moves to accept a donation in the amount of $2000.00 from Cyrus Clark for the  11 
Educational Recycling Scholarship Fund. 12 

Amendment – Under item s. (060120-21) The Kittery Town Council moves to amend the 13 
summer meeting schedule, those dates are July 13, July 23, August 10 and August 24. Dates 14 
changed to July 13, July 27, August 10 and August 24. 15 

Amendment – Under item q. (060120-19) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public 16 
Hearing on Title – 6 Animal Control on July 22, 2020. Date changed to July 27, 2020. 17 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 18 

Motion Carried 7-0-0   19 

6. Town Manager’s Report 20 

The Town Manager wanted to thank the students, the organizers and participates that put 21 
together the march on Saturday June 6, 2020, she stated it was a peaceful and meaningful 22 
march. She also wanted to thank to the Kittery Police Department for their collaboration with the 23 
organizers.    24 

The Town Manager reported on: COVID-19 Update, Boards, Commissions, Committee 25 
Meetings, Pepperrell Cove Parking Lot, Legion Pond Watershed Study, Joint Land Use Study, 26 
Vernal Pool Citizen Upcoming Dates:  KEEP Property Tax Applications Due – June 30, Senior 27 
Tax Credit Program Applications Due – July 1, State Primary Election and Town Meeting Ballot 28 
– July 14.  29 



2 | P a g e  
 

7. The Kittery Town Council statement condemning acts of Racism. 30 

Chair Spiller read the statement condemning acts of Racism. 31 

Chair Spiller moved the statement condemning acts of Racism, seconded by Councilor 32 
Thomson. 33 

Motion Carried 7-0-0   34 

8. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 35 
consultants or requested offices. 36 

a.  (060120-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to recognize the recipients of the 2020 37 
Educational Recycling Scholarships. 38 

Councilor Denault gave an overview of the 2020 Educational Recycling Scholarships and how 39 
the scholarship funds have reduced over the years. Councilor Denault also recognized the 40 
recipience. 41 

Traip Students Amount 

Emma Ackerman $650  

Madelyn Battcock-Emerson $650  

Morgan Hoyt $650  

Molly Stites $650  

Jarod Johnson $650  

Emma McGonigle $650  

Julia Campion $650  

  

  

Other Recipients  

Lilly Kemp $600  

Rachel Potter $500  

Jen Clifford $450  

Isabelle Woollacott $450  

Samuel Battcock-Emerson $450  
  Total Scholarships Issued            $7000                                                                                

 42 

b. (060120-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation from the Town 43 
Manager on the FY21 Municipal Budget. 44 

The Town Manager gave the presentation on the FY21 Municipal Budget. 45 

9. DISCUSSION - 46 



3 | P a g e  
 

a. Public comments will be received via email, mail, or the Town Hall Drop Box up until noon the 47 
day of the meeting. 48 

b. Chairperson will read comments into the record. 49 

Chair Spiller read the follow correspondence: 50 

Michael Roberts 14 Fernald Road Kittery, Maine - Mr. Roberts expressed his concerns of 51 
unleashed dogs on Seapoint Beach. 52 

Dianne Fallon 27 Miller Road Kittery Maine – Ms. Fallon spoke about the Memorandum of 53 
Understanding. 54 

Gary Seward 39 Picott Road Kittery, Maine – Mr. Seward spoke about walking in the rally on 55 
Saturday. 56 

Robert McDonough 48 Old Post Road Kittery, Maine – Mr. McDonough spoke about invasive 57 
aquatic plants. 58 

Craig Wilson 22 Charles Hill Road Kittery Point, Maine - Mr. Wilson comment on the Police 59 
officer Webster who prevented a person from committing suicide.  60 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comment. 61 

Michael Roberts 14 Fernald Road Kittery, Maine, Chair Spiller stated the Council was looking 62 
into the Dog Ordinance and on July 27th there would be a Public Hearing and making some 63 
changes requiring dogs to be on a leash.    64 

Dianne Fallon 27 Miller Road Kittery Maine, Chair Spiller stated the Council would address the 65 
MOU (Memorandum of Understanding) later in the Agenda. 66 

Gary Seward 39 Picott Road Kittery, Maine, Chair Spiller stated she and the Town Manager had 67 
discussed what the town could do to move Social Justice forward and to begin a community 68 
conversation. 69 

Robert McDonough 48 Old Post Road Kittery, Maine, Chair Spiller stated the Town Manager 70 
had discussed the Legion Pond Watershed Study in her report. 71 

Craig Wilson 22 Charles Hill Road Kittery Point, Maine, Chair Spiller stated that we all are 72 
thanking and saluting Officer Webster for his Heroic act. 73 

10. New Business 74 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition - 75 

(060120-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a check in the amount of $178.00 from 76 
Sandra Wing to be deposited into the Thresher Memorial Fund. 77 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 78 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 79 

The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a donation in the amount of $2000.00 from Cyrus 80 
Clark for the Recycling Scholarship Fund. 81 



4 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Denault thanked Councilor Clark on the behalf of the Recycling Scholarship Fund 82 
Committee. 83 

Councilor Clark stated he was glad he was able to donate. 84 

Moved by Councilor Denault, seconded by Councilor Pelletier.  85 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 86 

b. (060120-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a new Victualer’s License Application 87 
pending a successful inspection from Hattapon’s Thai Kitchen 27 Bourne Avenue, Wells, Maine. 88 
For Hattapon’s Thai Kitchen Food Truck located at 230 US Route 1 Kittery, ME. 89 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, second by Councilor Denault 90 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 91 

c. (060120-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a new Victualer’s License Application 92 
pending a successful inspection from Clam Hut Hospitality, Inc., doing business as Bob’s Clam 93 
Hut, 315 US Route 1 Kittery, ME. 94 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 95 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 96 

d. (060120-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a new Liquor License Application 97 
pending a successful inspection from Clam Hut Hospitality, Inc., doing business as Bob’s Clam 98 
Hut, 315 US Route 1 Kittery, ME. 99 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 100 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 101 

e. (060120-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License Application 102 
pending a successful inspection from Suzanne’s Village Café & Bistro LLC, 436 US Route 1 103 
Kittery, Maine for Misto! 436 US Route 1 Kittery, ME. 104 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 105 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 106 

f. (060120-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License Application 107 
pending a successful inspection from Maine Ocean Lobster, LLC PO Box 904 Kittery, Maine for 108 
The Pointe, 31 Badger’s Island West Kittery, ME. 109 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 110 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 111 

g. (060120-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License Application 112 
pending a successful inspection from Chios Pizza, Inc. 49 Griffin Road, Portsmouth, NH for 113 
Town Pizza Restaurant 15 Wentworth Street Kittery, ME. 114 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 115 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 116 



5 | P a g e  
 

h. (060120-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a Special Activity Amusement 117 
permit for Misto! 436 Route 1 Kittery, ME. 118 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 119 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 120 

I. (060120-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a Special Activity Amusement permit 121 
for The Pointe, 301 US Route 1 Kittery, ME. 122 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 123 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 124 

j. (060120-12) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a Special Activity Amusement permit 125 
for Paved Paradise-Kittery Food Truck Pod, 230 US Route 1 Bypass Kittery, ME. 126 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 127 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 128 

k. (060120-13) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on June 15, 2020 129 
to approve an ordinance entitled “Ordinance Approving Additional Local funds for School 130 
Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021”. 131 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 132 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 133 

l. (060120-14) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on June 15, 2020 134 
to approve an ordinance entitled “Ordinance Approving School Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-135 
2021”. 136 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 137 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 138 

m. (060120-15) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on July 13, 2020 139 
regarding Warrant Articles for the July 14, 2020 Municipal Budget  Election. 140 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 141 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 142 

n. (060120-16) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on June 22, 2020 143 
on FY21 Municipal Budget and Enterprise Fund. 144 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 145 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 146 

o. (060120-17) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on Title 5 - Short 147 
Term Rentals on June 22, 2020.  148 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 149 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 150 



6 | P a g e  
 

p. (060120-18) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on Title 10 – 151 
Walker Street on June 22, 2020. 152 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 153 

Councilor Denault, Councilor Lemont, and Vice Chair Brock expressed their concerns with Title 154 
10 – Walker Street. 155 

 Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and 156 
Chair Judith Spiller voted yes. 157 

Charles Denault voted no. 158 

Motion Carried 6-1-0 159 

q. (060120-19) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing on Title – 6 160 
Animal Control on July 27, 2020. 161 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 162 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 163 

r. (060120-20) The Kittery Town Council moves to the discuss the proposed MOU 164 
(Memorandum of Understanding) on the Library Capital Campaign effort. 165 

The Town Manager gave an overview of the proposed Memorandum of Understanding on the 166 
Library Capital Campaign effort. 167 

No actions taken. 168 

s. (060120-21) The Kittery Town Council moves to amend the summer meeting schedule, those 169 
dates are July 13, July 27, August 10 and August 24. 170 

Councilor Thomson moved to amend the summer meeting schedule, seconded by Councilor 171 
Denault. 172 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 173 

11. Council Issues or Comments 174 

Councilor Denault – Councilor Denault commented on getting aerators at Legion Pond, thanked 175 
Police Officer Mike Webster who saved a person trying to commit suicide. He also spoke about 176 
the traffic at the Shipyard. Thanking Councilor Clark for his donation to the Educational 177 
Recycling Scholarship awards. 178 

Councilor Clark – Councilor Clark stated everyone needs a hug. 179 

Vice Chair Brock – Vice Chair Brock asked everyone to Socially distance themselves.  He also 180 
expressed how pleased he was with how well the Kittery Police worked with the people there to 181 
demonstrate on Saturday. 182 

Councilor Lemont – Councilor Lemont thanked Councilor Clark for his generosity, spoke about 183 
Retail Marijuana, and finally he requested the Dog officer be at the Public hearing on July 27th. 184 



7 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Thomson – Councilor Thomson stated he and the Town Manager discussed the 185 
congestion of Pedestrian traffic going to and from Portsmouth NH over the back-channel bridge 186 
and the Memorial bridge, and suggested working with Portsmouth to encourage a one-way 187 
Pedestrian traffic. Maine DOT approved and New Hampshire DOT disapproved. Also, Councilor 188 
Thomson asked the Council consensus to working with the City of Portsmouth and getting the 189 
word out recommending a one-way Pedestrian traffic. 190 

Council agreed. 191 

12. Executive Session – 192 

a. (060120-22) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with the Town 193 
Manager in accordance with M.R.S. Title 1§405 (6) (C) to discuss consideration of interest in 194 
real property. 195 

Councilor Thomson moved to go into Executive Session at 8:24 p.m., seconded by Councilor 196 
Pelletier. 197 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 198 

Councilor Thomson moved to come out of Executive Session at 8:41pm, seconded by Councilor 199 
Pelletier. 200 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 201 

13. ADJOURNMENT 202 

Councilor Thomson moved to adjourn, seconded by Councilor Pelletier.  203 

Motion Carried 7-0-0  204 

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. Whilst 

every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are not 

intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the discussion 

and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the meeting on the 

Town of Kittery website.       



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL Unapproved Minutes 

Special Meeting - Requested by Chair Spiller  

JUNE 15, 2020  

Remote Meeting 

6:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 7 

a. (060220-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve an ordinance 8 
entitled “Ordinance Approving Additional Local funds for School Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-9 
2021”. 10 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 11 

Councilor Thomson asked the School Superintendent whether the Maine Department of 12 
Education annually reviews the essential service and program allocation, and if there are any 13 
communities that simply do the state mandated allocation. 14 

The School Superintendent stated that no school could function on the essential service and 15 
program allocation and he explained why. 16 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 17 

b. (060220-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve an ordinance 18 
entitled “Ordinance Approving School Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 19 

Chair Spiller read a letter from Joshua Cormier, 91 Picott Road Kittery, Maine. Mr. Cormier 20 
expressed his concerns with the education funding. 21 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 22 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 23 

6. DISCUSSION – Discussions limited to the matters on the agenda for this meeting 24 

a. Discussion by members of the public - Public comments will be received via email mail, or the 25 
Town Hall Drop Box up until noon the day of the meeting.  - None 26 

b. Chairperson will read comments into the record. - None 27 

c.  Chairperson’s response to public comment. - None 28 



2 | P a g e  
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 29 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 30 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 31 

  

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. Whilst 

every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are not 

intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the discussion 

and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the meeting on the 

Town of Kittery website.  



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL Unapproved Minutes 

JUNE 22, 2020  

Remote Meeting 

6:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth 5 
Lemont, Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption - None 7 

6. Town Manager’s Report 8 

The Town Manager reported on: 9 

COVID-19 update, absentee ballots are now available at Town Hall, Independence Day 10 
Celebration, Town Hall closed July 2nd for the holiday. 11 

Upcoming Dates:  KEEP Property Tax Applications Due – June 30, Senior Tax Credit 12 
Program Applications Due – July 1, State Primary Election and Town Meeting Ballot – 13 
July 14. 14 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes from 2019 15 

• July 8 16 

• August 12 17 

• September 9 18 

• September 23 19 

Councilor Thomson moved to approve the July 8, August 12, September 9, and 20 
September 23 Council minutes as written, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 21 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 22 

8. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 23 

consultants or requested offices. 24 

9. PUBLIC HEARINGS 25 



2 | P a g e  
 

a. (060320-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing in accordance 26 
with Sec. 6.06 (3) of the Kittery Town Charter and hereby ordains and adopts the 2020-27 
2021 Municipal and Enterprise Fund Budget. 28 

The Town Manager gave an overview of the Kittery Town Charter and the 2020-2021 29 
Municipal and Enterprise Fund Budget. 30 

Chair Spiller read a letter from Allison Elliott, Debra Lane Kittery, ME – Ms. Elliott 31 
commented on the Town Budget vote and suggested investing more funds into 32 
community services such as mental life, domestic violence, and substance related 33 
issues. 34 

Councilor Thomson moved, seconded by Councilor Pelletier.   35 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 36 

b. (060320-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 5-Short 37 
Term Rentals. 38 

The Town Manager gave an overview of Title 5-Short Term Rentals. 39 

The following property owners expressed concerns with Title 5-Short Term Rentals: 40 

Tim Brochu, 6 School Street, Kittery ME. – Public comment 41 

Thomas Battcock-Emerson, 10 Ox Point Drive, Kittery, ME. – Public comment 42 

Jill Costello, 8 Water Street, Kittery, ME. – Public comment 43 

 Barbara Macleod, 30 Pocahontas Road, Kittery Point, ME. – Written comment 44 

Nathan Ackerman, 9 Prince Avenue, Kittery, ME. – Public comment 45 

Erin Brochu, 6 School Street, Kittery, ME - Written comment 46 

Inezita Gay-Eckel, Kittery, ME.- Written Comment 47 

Cameron Wake, 19 Mendum Avenue, Kittery, ME. – Written comment 48 

Nicole and Adam Karns, Kittery, ME. – Written comment 49 

Gwen Davis, 70 Love Lane ext., Kittery, ME – Written comment 50 

Nate Cabot, 177 Haley Road, Kittery, ME. – Written comment 51 

Ned Savoie, Portsmouth, NH. – Written Comment 52 

Lauren and Nathanial Zike, 7 Stimson Street, Kittery, ME – The Zikes stated that they 53 
believe the majority of the ordinance is a reasonable solution to address the concerns of 54 
the community. -  Written comment 55 



3 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Thomson moved to postpone further action on this purposed ordinance 56 
pending further workshop input from Council and staff and a probable additional Public 57 
Hearing on a revised effort, seconded by Councilor Denault. 58 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 59 

(060320-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 10-Walker 60 
Street Parking. 61 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 62 

 Motion Carried 7-0-0 63 

Councilor Lemont moved to amend item D. to “extend on Walker from Otis Ave. to Main 64 
St. both sides of the street 2-hour parking”, as explained in the ordinance, seconded by 65 
Councilor Denault. 66 

Motion Carried 7-0-0  67 

Councilor Thomson wanted Council consensus on eliminating 4-hour parking entirely on 68 
Walker St. and also Wentworth St. 69 

In response to Councilor Thomson’s question, the Town Manager stated that if there 70 
was a consensus by the Council, she could draft the change as an ordinance revision 71 
and put that before Council for the next meeting to schedule a Public Hearing. 72 

All Councilors were in favor.  73 

10. DISCUSSION 74 

a. The public may submit public comments in writing via the Q&A feature of the webinar 75 
for the DISCUSSION agenda. 76 

b. Chairperson will read written comments into the record. 77 

Patrick Stahl, 11 Philbrick Road, Kittery, ME - Mr. Stahl expressed his concerns with the 78 
leash law at Seapoint Beach.  – Written comment 79 

Sam French, 31 Old Dennett Road South, Kittery, ME - Mr. French expressed his 80 
concerns with the leash law at Seapoint Beach. – Written comment 81 

Tabatha Hawkins, 31 Old Dennett Road South, Kittery, ME - Ms. Hawkins expressed 82 
her concerns with the leash law at Seapoint Beach. – Written comment   83 

Sarah Victor of Freeport, ME and Ellen Dohmen - Ms. Victor as well as Ms. Dohman 84 
suggested the Town of Kittery should rename memorials, buildings and roads with the 85 
name “Pepperrell”, since the early Pepperrell families were slave owners. – Written 86 
comment   87 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comment. 88 



4 | P a g e  
 

Chair Spiller responded to Patrick Stahl, Sam French, and Tabatha Hawkins and stated 89 
the temporary leash law was imposed by the Town Manager due to COVID-19. 90 

Chair Spiller responded to Ellen Dohmen and Sarah Victor and stated that it’s possible 91 
for the Town to review the names that are associated with slave owners, at some point 92 
in time. 93 

11. NEW BUSINESS 94 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition - None 95 

b. (060320-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License 96 
application pending a successful inspection, from WLH Management Corporation 149 97 
Mendums Landing Barrington, NH for Warren’s Lobster House located at 11 Water 98 
Street, Kittery, ME. 99 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 100 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 101 

c. (060320-5) The Kittery Council moves to approve a new Victualer’s License 102 
application pending successful inspection, from Gus Alivlzatis 43 Coach Lantern Lane, 103 
Scarborough, ME, for Lucky Lou’s Place Food Truck located at 230 US Route 1, Kittery, 104 
ME. 105 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 106 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 107 

d. (060320-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the MOU for the Library 108 
Capital Campaign. 109 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 110 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 111 

e. (060320-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Patricia Moore, Assistant 112 
Town Manager and Finance Director, as Acting Town Manager from June 29th through 113 
July 2nd, as the Town Manager will be on vacation. 114 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 115 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 116 

12. Council Issues or Comments 117 

Councilor Denault spoke about the Council working on civility.  118 

Councilor Thomson mentioned the great job the Department of Public Works did on 119 
getting the Foreside ready for outside dining. Councilor Thomson also wished Councilor 120 
Lemont a happy belated 69th birthday.  121 



5 | P a g e  
 

Vice Chair Brock said that he saw that the KCC would be hosting the dance hall for a 122 
series of performances in August. Vice Chair Brock said it was a great expansion of the 123 
Town government trying to work with the local businesses and extend to the performing 124 
arts. 125 

Chair Spiller stated that the Town Manager, Councilor Lemont, Vice Chair Brock and 126 
herself had a meeting with Seacoast Youth Advocates about fighting against acts of 127 
discrimination.  Chair Spiller stated that most of their conversation was about the police 128 
and some of the services they provide and different ways to provide those services. 129 
Chair Spiller stated it would be a process that would require considerable conversations 130 
and planning.  131 

13. Executive Session 132 

a. (060320-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with the 133 
Town Manager in accordance with M.R.S Title1§405 (6) (D) to discuss labor contracts. 134 

Chair Spiller moved for the Kittery Town Council to go into Executive session at 7:53 135 
p.m. 136 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 137 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 138 

Councilor Thomson moved for the Kittery Town Council to come out of Executive 139 
session at 8:09 p.m., seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 140 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 141 

14. ADJOURNMENT 142 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 143 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 144 

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 

minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 

summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please 

refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website.  

 



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL Unapproved Minutes 

JULY 13, 2020  

Remote Meeting 

6:00 PM 

 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Vice Chair Matt 5 
Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. Councilor Absent: Cyrus Clark. Councilor Kenneth 6 
Lemont arrived late.  7 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 8 

Chair Spiller added item f. under New Business to accept the resignation of Molly Stites 9 
from the Climate Adaptation Committee. 10 

Councilor Thomson moved to accept the adoption to the agenda, seconded by 11 
Councilor Pelletier. 12 

Motion Carried 5-0-0 13 

6. Town Manager’s Report 14 

The Town Manager reported on: 15 

COVID-19 Update, COVID-19 business assistance, Joint Land Use Study 16 
Implementation Phase, Town Hall Service Center closed on election day, Emery Field 17 
Phase 2 playground, Natural Resources Conservation Program applications. 18 

Upcoming Dates: State Primary Election and Town Meeting Ballot – July 14, 8AM to 19 
8PM, KCC, and Nomination Papers for Council and School Committee Available Now - 20 
Town Clerk’s Office. 21 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes 22 

• October 7, 2019 23 

• October 28, 2019 24 



2 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Thomson moved to approve the minutes from October 7, 2019 and October 25 
28, 2019 as written, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 26 

Motion Carried 5-0-0 27 

8. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 28 
consultants or requested offices. 29 

a. (070120-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation from Jessa 30 
Kellogg, Public Works Inspector to update Council on the Town’s MS4 program. 31 

Jessa Kellogg and Kristie Rabasca gave a presentation for the MS4 program. 32 

9. PUBLIC HEARINGS 33 

a. (070120-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to receive 34 
comments on the Town Meeting Articles 2 through 9 for the July 14, 2020 Town 35 
Meeting Election. 36 

Chair Spiller read the Town Meeting Articles. 37 

No Council action required. 38 

10. DISCUSSION 39 

a. The public may submit public comments in writing via the Q&A feature of the webinar 40 
for the DISCUSSION agenda. 41 

b. Chairperson will read written comments into the record. 42 

Chair Spiller read two letters from the public: 43 

A letter from T. Purman opposed Title 5 Short term rentals. 44 

A letter from Larry Etscovitz opposed allowing fireworks on residential streets.  45 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comment. 46 

Chair Spiller responded to T.Purman’s letter and stated that the Town is not trying 47 
discriminate against low income residents.  Chair Spiller advised that the Town is trying 48 
to develop a system that affords some kind of protection. 49 

Chair Spiller responded to Mr. Etscovitz’s letter and stated that it is not legal in the state 50 
of Maine to set off fireworks in the streets. She also stated that it was against the law to 51 
set fireworks off at Emery Field. 52 

11. NEW BUSINESS 53 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition - None 54 

b. (070120-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to consider a report from Councilor 55 
Denault on Hazard Pay. 56 



3 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Denault presented his report on Hazard Pay. Councilor Denault also asked 57 
for the Council to support Hazard Pay. 58 

Vice Chair Brock asked Councilor Denault if the money would be coming from the state 59 
or the taxpayers.  60 

Councilor Denault stated that he wanted the Town Manager to put a plan in place when 61 
or if the “Heroes Act” is passed. 62 

Council was in support of Councilor Denault’s report and for the Town Manager to put a 63 
plan in place when or if the “Heroes Act” is passed. 64 

c. (070120-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on July 27, 2020 65 
on Title 10 – Walker/Wentworth Street parking. 66 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 67 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 68 

d. (070120-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on July 27, 2020 69 
to rename Manson Avenue Extension to Buckley Way in honor of Retired Naval Chief 70 
Petty Officer Bishop L. Buckley Sr. 71 

Moved by Councilor Denault, seconded by Councilor Thomson. 72 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 73 

e. (070120-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to reschedule the Title 6 – Animal 74 
Control Public Hearing from July 27, 2020 to August 24, 2020. 75 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 76 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 77 

f. The Kittery Town Council moves to accept the resignation of Molly Stites from the 78 
Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee. 79 

Moved by Chair Spiller, seconded by Councilor Thomson. 80 

Motion Carried 6-0-0  81 

12. Council Issues or Comments 82 

Councilor Thomson spoke about the loud motorcycle tail pipes, and asked if it was legal 83 
to be so loud. 84 

Councilor Denault stated that he had received complaints from the residents on Mason 85 
and Stevenson Road about not having a painted crosswalk. He also stated that there 86 
was a green light out at the intersection on Walker Street. Councilor Denault also said 87 
he had received complaints about the right of way behind the old Gilford Boats and old 88 
Jackson Hardware. 89 



4 | P a g e  
 

Technical difficulties occurred at 7:03 p.m. causing the meeting to be interrupted. 90 

Councilor Lemont spoke about the weeds at the traffic circle creating a blind spot. He 91 
also wished Councilor Pelletier a happy birthday. Councilor Lemont also mentioned 92 
Affordable Housing and asked if the malls had been approached about re-zoning. 93 

Vice Chair Brock responded to Councilor Lemont and stated he believed the malls had 94 
been notified of the re-zoning. Vice Chair Brock also suggested supporting the local 95 
businesses and restaurants, which are struggling due to COVID-19. 96 

13. Executive Session – 97 

a. (070120-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with the 98 
Town Manager, Director of Planning and Development, and Town Attorney in 99 
accordance with M.R.S. Title 1§405 (6) (E) to discuss a legal matter where premature 100 
general public knowledge would clearly place the municipality at a substantial 101 
disadvantage. 102 

Councilor Thomson moved to go into Executive session at 7:09 p.m., seconded by 103 
Councilor Pelletier.  104 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 105 

Councilor Thomson moved to come out of Executive session at 7:46 p.m., seconded by 106 
Councilor Pelletier.  107 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 108 

14. ADJOURNMENT 109 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier.  110 

Motion Carried 6-0-0 111 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 

minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 

summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please 

refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 







 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  
 

Meeting Date: December 14, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Matt Brock, Housing Committee Chairperson 

Subject: Affordable Housing Feasibility at Cole Street 

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Jeffrey Thomson 

 
 
The Town Council requested, at its Workshop on January 14, 2019, the Housing Working Group 
investigate the possibility of using the old Recreation Center site at Cole Street for an affordable 
housing project.  Below are the results of the due diligence conducted in response to that request. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Town of Kittery’s Comprehensive Plan identifies the need for affordable housing for 
younger single-person and family households, as well as the growing senior population, to 
maintain the Town’s workforce, stimulate economic development, and support individuals living 
in Kittery throughout their lifecycle.   
 
The Cole Street site has a number of beneficial characteristics for an affordable housing project.  
However, the current deed restriction serves as a barrier to making a project happen in the short 
term.   
 
The Housing Committee recommends taking the next step in this effort, specifically to determine 
if a “Comfort Letter” can be obtained from HUD to allow an affordable housing project at this 
parcel.  This will not require the Town to advance a project, simply it would determine if the 
concept should continue to the next step of evaluation. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On January 14, 2019, the Housing Working Group (now the Housing Committee) presented to 
the Council a report on its workforce housing charrette, conducted with the Seacoast Workforce 
Housing Coalition.   
 
The charrette focused on the Walker Fire Station location as a possible site for an affordable 
housing project and engaged a great deal of volunteers and residents in considering how an 
affordable housing project may work on that site and in Kittery generally.  For more information 
about the charrette and the report, please visit kitteryme.gov and look for 
Inclusionary/Workforce Housing on the Projects Tab.   



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL   MEETING DATE: DECEMBER 14, 2020 

2 

 

 
The report was presented to the Council in a workshop format.  At that workshop, members of 
the Council suggested the Cole Street site may be a better location for affordable housing.  The 
Cole Street parcel contains the old Recreation building, Emery Field and Emery Field park.  To 
note, the original suggestion proposed reusing the old Recreation building.  This was not deemed 
to be feasible given the amount of reconstruction, remediation, and alteration needed to the 
building. 
 
At the conclusion of the workshop, the Council directed staff and Committee members to 
evaluate the Cole Street site as a candidate for an affordable housing project.   
 
DEED 
The deed for the parcel, given by the Public Housing Administration to the Town on March 3, 
1949, contains a restriction requiring that the land be used for “public use and for no other use or 
purpose whatsoever”.   
 
This was in place when the Town turned over the land to the Wallingford-Harris American 
Legion Post in June of 1949.  It remained in place when the land was abandoned by the American 
Legion.  (see attached Town Attorney opinion) 
 
It is often found that affordable housing is a “public benefit”, so additional analysis was done to 
determine if “pubic use” could be seen as synonymous with public benefit.  The Town engaged 
an attorney with extensive affordable housing expertise in Maine, Attorney Richard Shaney of 
Drummond and Woodsum, to provide additional information.  He opinioned that “public good” 
and “public use” in some cases may be considered compatible, but the restriction would not likely 
be seen as synonymous by an investor or lender assessing the risk of financing an affordable 
housing project on the site.   
 
Attorney Shaney concluded that relief or revision of the deed restriction would be necessary to 
pursue an affordable housing project funded and operated by a private or non-profit entity.   
 
The successor of interest for the deed restriction is the United States Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD).  (see attached Attorney Shaney opinion).  Given HUD’s mission, 
obtaining such relief might be an achievable goal, but the outcome would be uncertain. 
 
Staff had a conversation with HUD on July 14, 2020 regarding the restriction.  HUD staff 
indicated that they would not necessarily remove the restriction, but more likely issue a “comfort 
letter” that concurred that affordable housing is consistent with the deed given certain details met 
their requirements.  The details included whether the project would be privately funded, publicly 
funded or a combination thereof; what the ownership structure of the property would be, and 
who the housing project would serve.  The Town’s new affordable housing ordinance meets their 
general standard of 80% of area median income. 
 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL   MEETING DATE: DECEMBER 14, 2020 

3 

 

To advance this effort, the Town would need to send an official request to HUD.  HUD staff 
warned the process to review and make a decision can be lengthy.  
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize the Town Manager to request a comfort letter from HUD for the property and report 
back to Council on the outcome. 



 

1 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: November 23, 2020 

Updated:  December 14, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 2 Maine Earned Paid Leave Law 

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Jeffrey Thomson 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The proposed amendment is required to ensure the Town’s Administrative Code is compliant with 
Maine Revised Statute Title 26 §637 which becomes effective on January 1, 2021.   

 
PROPOSED TITLE 2 REVISIONS 
MRS Title 26 §637 was passed in 2019 and requires that all employers, with more than 10 employees, 
provide each eligible employee with one hour of paid leave for every 40 hours worked, up to 40 
hours of paid leave in a calendar year.   
 
The law applies to full-time, part-time, and temporary employees.  Per the new law, an employee 
must be eligible to use the time for any reason beginning 120 calendar days following their hire date.  
The employer may establish policies for notification for use as “vacation time”, but cannot limit or 
prohibit the immediate use of earned leave for illness, emergency, or sudden necessity.  The employer 
may establish policies relative to pay out of unused earned leave balances upon employee termination.  
The Department of Labor recently released its rules regarding the implementation of the new law, 
and provided greater guidance regarding a number of issues the law generates as it is applied to 
municipal operations. 
 
Title 2 – Administrative Code pertains to full-time employees not covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement.  Upon review of the Department of Labor’s rules, it has been determined that Title 2 is 
not compliant with the new state law as it relates to the first six months of an eligible employee’s 
service with the Town.    
 
Upon achieving six months of continuous service, an employee receives a week of vacation 
(§2.3.16.B).  The employee is also earning one sick day per month worked (§2.3.16.D).  Though the 
“sick days” accrued exceed the total number of hours required by the new law, the limitation on the 
use is not compliant. 
 
The proposed amendment will address the compliance gap.  As proposed, earned leave will begin to 
accrue for a new eligible employee immediately rather than waiting until the employee achieves six 



  MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 23, 2020   
  UPDATED: DECEMBER 14, 2020     

2 

 

months of continuous service.  Once the employee has achieved six months of continuous service, 
the time will be converted to vacation and the normal accrual processes for vacation, sick and 
personal time will take over. 
 
The Town Manager is charged with establishing and enforcing rules regarding part-time and 
temporary employees, and more broadly earned time use.  The Town’s personnel rules are being 
updated to ensure compliance with state law.   
 
UPDATES 
Corrected Maine state law reference format. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 
Approve amendment as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Proposed Title 2 Amendment – Maine Earned Paid Leave 
- Proposed Enactment 
- MRS Title 26 §637 Earned Paid Leave  

  



DRAFT: November 23, 2020 
UPDATED: December 14, 2020 

TITLE 2  
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 

MAINE EARNED PAID LEAVE LAW 

ADD §2.3.17 Maine Earned Paid Leave for full-time employees as follows: 1 

§2.3.17 Maine Earned Paid Leave 2 

a. In accordance with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave Law 26 MRS §637, an employee will receive 3 

one (1) hour of earned paid leave for every forty hours worked until they have achieved six 4 

months of currently continuous service.   5 

b. Once employees have completed six months of currently continuous service, the accrued 6 

earned paid leave balance will be converted to annual vacation leave and be counted towards the 7 

five vacation days awarded in §2.3.16.B(1)(a).   8 

c.  Accrued earned paid leave used during the first six months will be deducted from the five 9 

vacation days awarded in in §2.3.16.B(1)(a). 10 

d. Employees may not utilize accrued earned paid leave until 120 days following the employee’s 11 

hire date unless approved by the Town Manager.   12 

e. An employee will not be paid for any accrued earned paid leave balance, if the employee 13 

terminates employment from the Town, for any reason, prior to serving for six continuous 14 

months. 15 



KITTERY TOWN CODE 

TITLE 2 

MAINE EARNED PAID LEAVE LAW 

 

DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2021, Maine Revised Statutes Title 26 §637 requires that 10 
employers provide each eligible employee with earned paid leave at a rate of one hour of paid 11 
leave for each forty hours worked; and 12 

WHEREAS, Title 2 of the Town Code does not achieve compliance with the Maine Earned Paid 13 
Leave Law until an eligible employee has reached six months of continuous service; and  14 

WHEREAS, the Town Council seeks to amend the Title 2 Administrative Code to be in 15 
compliance with Title 26 §637;  16 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN 17 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENT TO TITLE 2 18 
OF THE TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 19 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 20 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 21 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 22 

passed by a vote of _______. 23 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 24 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 25 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 26 



MRS Title 26, §637. EARNED PAID LEAVE

Generated 
10.14.2020 §637. Earned paid leave |  1

§637.  Earned paid leave
(CONTAINS TEXT WITH VARYING EFFECTIVE DATES)
(WHOLE SECTION TEXT EFFECTIVE 1/01/21)

1.  Definitions.  As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms 
have the following meanings.

A.  "Employment" has the same meaning as in section 1043, subsection 11, but does not include 
employment in a seasonal industry as defined in section 1251.  [PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 
2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]
B.  "Employer" has the same meaning as in section 1043, subsection 9.  [PL 2019, c. 156, §3 
(NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]
C.  "Employee" means a person engaged in employment.  [PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, 
c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]
2.  Earned paid leave.  An employer that employs more than 10 employees in the usual and regular 

course of business for more than 120 days in any calendar year shall permit each employee to earn paid 
leave based on the employee's base pay as provided in this section
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

3.  Accrual.  An employee is entitled to earn one hour of paid leave from a single employer for 
every 40 hours worked, up to 40 hours in one year of employment. Accrual of leave begins at the start 
of employment, but the employer is not required to permit use of the leave before the employee has 
been employed by that employer for 120 days during a one-year period.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

4.  Rate.  An employee while taking earned leave must be paid at least the same base rate of pay 
that the employee received immediately prior to taking earned leave and must receive the same benefits 
as those provided under established policies of the employer pertaining to other types of paid leave.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

5.  Notice.  Absent an emergency, illness or other sudden necessity for taking earned leave, an 
employee shall give reasonable notice to the employee's supervisor of the employee's intent to use 
earned leave. Use of leave must be scheduled to prevent undue hardship on the employer as reasonably 
determined by the employer.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

6.  Benefits.  The taking of earned leave under this section may not result in the loss of any 
employee benefits accrued before the date on which the leave commenced and may not affect the 
employee's right to health insurance benefits on the same terms and conditions as applicable to similarly 
situated employees.  Nothing is this section prevents an employer from providing a benefit greater than 
that provided by this section.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

7.  Enforcement.  The bureau has the exclusive authority pursuant to section 42 to enforce this 
section.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

8.  Penalties.  Penalties for violations of this section are the same as those provided in section 53.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

9.  Preemption.  A municipality or other political subdivision may not enact an ordinance or other 
rule purporting to have the force of law under its home rule or other authority regulating earned paid 
leave.



MRS Title 26, §637. EARNED PAID LEAVE

2  | §637. Earned paid leave Generated 
10.14.2020

[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]
10.  Rules.  The Department of Labor shall adopt rules to implement and enforce the provisions of 

this section, including rules regarding the receipt, investigation and prosecution of complaints brought 
under this section. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in 
Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2‑A.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

11.  Exception.  This section does not apply to an employee covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement during the period between January 1, 2021 and the expiration of the agreement.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]

12.  Reporting.  Beginning January 1, 2022, and annually thereafter, the Department of Labor shall 
submit a report to the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over labor matters 
on progress made in the State to comply with this section.
[PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF).]
REVISOR'S NOTE: §637.  Leave for appointments for veterans as enacted by PL 2019, c. 350, §1 is 
REALLOCATED TO TITLE 26, SECTION 638
REVISOR'S NOTE: §637.  Wage theft remedies as enacted by PL 2019, c. 461, §1 is 
REALLOCATED TO TITLE 26, SECTION 639
SECTION HISTORY
PL 2019, c. 156, §3 (NEW). PL 2019, c. 156, §4 (AFF). 

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include 
the following disclaimer in your publication:
All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects 
changes made through the Second Regular Session of the 129th Maine Legislature and is current through October 1, 2020. The 
text is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the 
Maine Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.
The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our 
goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to 
preserve the State's copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the 
public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.



































































































































DRAFT UPDATE:  December 14, 2020 

 EMERGENCY WAIVER  
OUTDOOR RETAIL AND RESTAURANT SALES  

PANDEMIC COVID-19 
 

WHEREAS, COVID-19, also known as coronavirus is a highly infectious virus that poses an imminent 
disaster to the residents, workers, and visitors to Kittery; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor of Maine declared a state of civil emergency for Maine on March 15, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Manager declared a local disaster existed in Kittery on March 25, 2020 in 
accordance with the Title 8.3.6 of the Town Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery, in whole, is deemed vulnerable to the virus; and 
 
WHEREAS, the need to prevent further spreading of the virus through person-to-person contact requires 
actions that include potential regulations and enforcement waivers pertaining to the movement of persons 
and vehicles, and commerce within and outside of the Town; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor of Maine has encouraged communities to work with their commercial businesses 
on outdoor retail and dining to alleviate limitations on business operations resulting from required social 
distancing and limitations on congregating during the COVID-19 pandemic; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council wishes to support the businesses in town by making outdoor sales 
and dining possible through streamlined review and approval processes that respond to evolving safety 
guidelines for safe operations during the COVID-19 pandemic; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Kittery Town Council hereby waives enforcement of the following provisions of 
Title 5.7 Sidewalk Sales and authorizes the Town Manager to approve Request for Extension of License on 
Premise applications effective June 1 until Maine State of Civil Emergency to Protect Public Health is 
rescinded or terminated, whichever comes first, unless otherwise modified by a vote of the Town Council. 
 

 5.7.5. and 5.7.7 Town Council Approval - Approvals may be granted administratively upon staff 
review and approval of an application and site plan. 

 5.7.6.A Four-Day Limitation on Sidewalk Sale Duration – Sidewalk sale approvals may be valid 
through July 31, 2020 unless the Council modifies the waiver. 

 5.7.6.B Signature of Five Landlords – requirement to obtain signatures from five landlords is 
waived. 

 5.7.10 Review Standards Parking – Number of obstructed parking spaces may exceed 10%. 
 5.7.13 Temporary Street Closing – Street closing and public parking obstructions may be approved 

by the Town Manager. 
 
Motion to approve made by Councilor ___________________ and seconded by Councilor  

_________________________, and passed by a vote of   ________ on the ________ day of  

___________, 2020. 



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: December 14, 2020 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Dutch Dunkelberger, Planning Board Chair 

Subject: Outdoor Dining 

Sponsor: Chairperson Jeffrey Thomson 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Town Council has been supporting local restaurants and businesses through the COVID pandemic 
by allowing outdoor dining since July of this year.  More recently, the Council has expressed support for 
amending Title 16 to make it easier for outdoor dining to exist.   The public and businesses have 
supported outdoor dining and are indicating an interest in this option being more prevalent in Kittery 
going forward. 
 
The proposed ordinance amendment would ease performance standards for outdoor dining for existing 
and new restaurants on an ongoing basis. 
 
PROPOSED TITLE 16 REVISIONS – OUTDOOR DINING  
Outdoor dining has been treated the same as indoor dining space in terms of the land use code, due to a 
lack of definition and specific performance standards.  The resulting impact is that outdoor dining has too 
great of an impact on the lot coverage, parking requirements, and other design standards to make it readily 
viable for a business owner. 
 
The proposed amendments establish different performance standards for the outdoor dining portion of a 
use.  The performance standards are more appropriately aligned to the generally lower impact that 
outdoor dining operations have on parking and life safety. 
 
The Planning Board held a public hearing on the amendment on November 12, 2020.  There were no 
public comments received on the matter.  The Planning Board voted to recommend the amendment 
unanimously.  
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 

Approve amendment as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Proposed Title 16 Amendment – Title 16 Outdoor Dining 
- Proposed Ordainment – Title 16 Outdoor Dining 



DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

1 
 

CHAPTER 16 
OUTDOOR DINING  

1. ADD Outdoor Dining Definition to Title 16 definitions as follows: 

§16.2.2 Definitions 1 

Outdoor Dining - A dining area with seats and/or table(s) located outside of a restaurant, which is either: a) 2 
located entirely outside the walls of the building of the subject business, or b) enclosed on two (2) sides or 3 
less by the walls of the building with or without a solid roof cover, or c) enclosed on three (3) sides by the 4 
walls of the building without a solid roof cover. 5 

2. ADD Outdoor Dining Design and Performance Standards for the Built Environment as follows: 6 

Outdoor Dining §16.8.29.1 7 

A. Applicability 8 

1. Outdoor dining, as defined in Chapter §16.2.2 of this Title, is allowed as follows: 9 

a. Within the buildable lot area in all zoning districts where restaurants are allowed as either a 10 
permitted or a special exception use; 11 

b. Within the front, side and/or rear yards (setbacks) of the C-1, C-2, C-3, B-L, B-L1, MU, MU-BI, 12 
MU-KF and MU-N zones where such a setback does not abut a residential use; and 13 

c. Outdoor dining in the public way is permitted subject to Title 5 and all Town requirements. 14 

2. Any existing restaurant that meets the above requirements may apply for approval for outdoor dining on-15 
site.  16 

3. New restaurants to be constructed may include outdoor dining plans on-site as part of their site plan 17 
review. 18 

B. Standards  19 

1. Outdoor dining on site must meet all the requirements of the pertinent zone’s buffering and screening 20 
requirements. 21 

2.Proposed outdoor dining on-site must comply with all conditions pertaining to any existing variances, 22 
special exceptions or other approvals granted for the property as well as any conditions imposed by the 23 
granting of the site plan review approval for the outdoor dining itself. 24 

3. All the proposed outdoor dining activities must be conducted on private property owned, leased or 25 
otherwise controlled by the applicant unless separate approval for the use of any public rights-of-way has 26 
been obtained from the Town. 27 

4. The proposed outdoor dining must not impede a site’s internal circulation or its access and egress. 28 

5. No additional parking is required for outdoor dining at existing restaurants where on-street parking is 29 
available. For outdoor dining areas in existing restaurants where on-street parking is not available, if the 30 



DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

2 
 

outdoor dining area is 1,000 square feet or less, no additional parking is required. For outdoor dining areas in 31 
existing restaurants over 1,000 square feet but less than 2,000 square feet, one additional parking space is 32 
required. Thereafter, one additional parking space is required for every additional 1,000 sf.  33 

C. Site Plan Review submission requirements 34 

1. The site plan must be drawn to scale, showing the dimensions of the proposed outdoor dining area, and its 35 
location relative to the structure where the restaurant is located. 36 

2. The site plan must show the location of any proposed or existing pavement, hardscaping, landscaping, 37 
planters, fencing, canopies, umbrellas, awnings or barriers surrounding or delineating the outside dining area. 38 

3. Calculations demonstrating the number of tables that may be placed within the proposed outdoor dining 39 
area according to state and local regulations must be submitted. 40 

4. The above submission requirements are all that is required for outdoor dining areas that require Code 41 
Enforcement approval under §16.10.3.2. For outdoor dining areas that must be reviewed under site plan 42 
review, the above requirements must be met in addition to the submission requirements of §16.10.5.2 unless 43 
a submission requirements waiver is granted by the Planning Board. 44 



KITTERY TOWN CODE –  

TITLE 16  

OUTDOOR DINING 

DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; and 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers 6 
that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery’s outdoor dining performance standards have been found to be 10 
too restrictive, and therefore have limited the ability to have outdoor dining in Kittery; and  11 

WHEREAS, for the sustainability of local businesses and the safety of customers, the Town 12 
Council enacted temporary measures to allow restaurants more flexibility to offer outdoor dining 13 
during the COVID-19 pandemic; and  14 

WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery seeks to establish new performance standards for outdoor 15 
dining that are more appropriately aligned to the impact the outdoor dining has on parking and 16 
life safety, so as to allow the positive benefits experienced from outdoor dining to continue; 17 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001, AND TOWN 18 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS TITLE 16, LAND USE and 19 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, OUTDOORD DINING AMENDMENTS OF THE TOWN CODE, AS 20 
PRESENTED. 21 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 22 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 23 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 24 

passed by a vote of _______. 25 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 26 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 27 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 28 



DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

TOWN COUNCIL GOALS 

2021 

Work together respectfully toward consensus, capitalizing on our experiences and diversity. 

Address proposals for Charter, Ordinance, and Policy changes for improving efficiency and effectiveness 

of the Town operations including: 

 Title 5 ‐ Business License Regulations 

 General – Direct Issuance of Civil Penalties for Ordinance Violations 

Advance the Comprehensive Plan 5 Year Action Plan, specifically the following: 

 Climate Adaptation Study (9.1, 9.2) 

o Develop and implement climate adaptation, flood resiliency and green‐house gases 

strategies and ordinances 

 Reduce dog and horse waste in open spaces (2.2) 

o Expand/enhance Title 6 Animal Control ordinance  

 Ensure Town planning processes are open, transparent, informative, inclusive, respectful and 

welcoming (7.1) 

o Complete Title 16 recodification to achieve development goals  

o Equip Town Hall to support ongoing hybrid and remote meetings 

 Develop long range plan for the library (7.2) 

o Advance construction project 

o Begin five‐year strategic plan for Library  

 Guide development to areas already served by public utilities, resulting in more efficient and 

cost‐effective use of these public services (7.3) 

o Develop zoning amendments to uses, dimensional and performance standards that 

advantage development around utilities. 

 Continue to support healthy lifestyle choices and wellness by improving walking and biking and 

infrastructure (5.2) 

o Launch pedestrian and bicycle master plan. 

 Develop a plan for Town facilities and property owners to transition to low and zero impact 

energy sources (9.2) 

o Develop sustainable ordinances. 

o Identify Community Solar opportunities. 

Adopt a budget that is progressive, responsible, responsive to community expectations and needs, and 

visionary – moving the community forward. 

Give attention to Councilor expressed priorities, including: 

 Identify viable properties for the re‐use or disposition of Town controlled property including 

(but not limited to): 

o Walker Street Fire Station 

o Taylor Building 

o Old Post Properties 

o 2 Walker Street    



DRAFT: December 14, 2020 

TOWN MANAGER GOALS 

2021 

Support long term planning and growth management objectives: 

 Finish the Title 16 recodification process and develop a plan to address identified policy issues 

 Propose TIF amendments to provide relief to taxpayers and support desired growth 

 Develop zone amendments to promote the increase of housing stock 

 Advance JLUS Implementation effort and recommendations from Study 

Enhance Financial Stability 

 Produce a 2022 budget that seeks to respond to service expectations of the community, and 

appropriately addresses unmet needs and revenue changes resulting from COVID 

 Finish comprehensive technology master plan to inform the capital improvement program 

 Integrate sustainability and climate change priorities into Capital Improvement Program 

Continue to improve organizational efficiency through implementation of technology, and 

recommended amendments to the Charter, Town Ordinance, and Policy. 

Support Council’s efforts to implement the Comprehensive Plan 5 Year Action Plan (see Council Goals) 

 

Town Assets and Infrastructure 

 Develop recommendations for the reuse or disposition of various town owned or tax‐acquired 

properties 

 Develop a sidewalk master plan for replacement, enhancement and addition of town sidewalks 

Develop and Sustain the Professional Staff 

 Complete contract negotiations in a timely fashion 

 Plan for addressing increasing demands for police, fire, and public works services 

 

 

 

 



December 14, 2020 

TOWN COUNCIL GOALS 
2020 

Work together respectfully toward consensus, capitalizing on our experiences and diversity. – On going. 

Address proposals for Charter, Ordinance, and Policy changes for improving efficiency and effectiveness 
of the Town operations including: 

• Title 5 - Business License Regulations – COMPLETE 
• General – Direct Issuance of Civil Penalties for Ordinance Violations 

Advance the Comprehensive Plan 5 Year Action Plan, specifically the following: 

• Climate Adaptation Study (9.1, 9.2) 
o Complete climate adaptation assessments for flood resiliency and green-house gases 

and develop risk reduction and adaptation strategies – IN PROCESS Flood resiliency 
analysis in process.  GHG assessment in process. 

• Develop a Housing Plan/Affordable Housing Strategies (4.1) 
o Title 16 Amendments to incentivize affordable housing – COMPLETE 

• Reduce dog and horse waste in open spaces (2.2) 
o Expand/enhance Title 6 Animal Control ordinance – IN PROCESS Phase 1 complete.  

Working Group formed to address Phase 2. 
• Ensure Town planning processes are open, transparent, informative, inclusive, respectful and 

welcoming (7.1) 
o Title 16 recodification to achieve development goals – IN PROCESS Planning review 

underway.   

Adopt a budget that is progressive, responsible, responsive to community expectations and needs, and 
visionary – moving the community forward. – Council amended goal to include 0% increase.  COMPLETE. 

Give attention to Councilor expressed priorities, including: 

• Retail marijuana ordinance – Draft in process. 
• Advance JLUS recommendations to reduce PNSY traffic impacts – Council funded public transit 

launched.  Love Lane traffic calming COMPLETE. 
• Establish a long-range plan for the re-use or disposition of the Walker Street Fire Station and tax 

acquired property – Plan withdrawn due to cost. 
• Begin design and funding strategy for sidewalk extension on Stevenson to Route 236 – IN 

PROCESS Engineering is underway. 
• Short-term-rental ordinance - COMPLETE 
• Transition to fully electronic packets to reduce paper use – IN PROCESS 



TOWN MANAGER ANNUAL GOALS 
STATUS REPORT – Q4 

1   December 14, 2020 
 

2020 GOALS STATUS Update 
Support Long Term Planning and Growth Management Objectives 
Propose and implement zoning amendments that support desired 
growth in the targeted growth areas including Route 1, and the Route 1 
Bypass, and the Business Local zones, incorporate affordable housing 
incentives. 

On going Affordable Housing zoning amendments adopted.   Staff working 
with PB on priorities related to dimensional standards, parking, and 
uses throughout zones. 

Finish Title 16 recodification process and develop a plan to address 
identified policy issues 

 

On going Final KLIC review of draft Title 16 recodification completed.  PB 
review underway.   

Propose TIF amendments to provide relief to taxpayers and support 
desired growth 

 

Complete Council approved dissolution of TIFS 1 & 2.  TIF 3 amendment 
public hearing in Aug to give Council more flexibility on the % of 
captured value diverted to the TIF fund. 
 

Develop zone amendments to promote the increase of housing stock Complete  

Enhance Financial Stability 
Produce a 2021 budget that seeks to respond to service expectations of 
the community, and that is adequately justifiable in comparison to 
appropriate economic indicators, comparable communities, and 
supports implementation of town objectives 

 

Complete 2021 budget approved with 1.34% reduction due to uncertainty 
surrounding COVID.  Revaluation near complete and expected to 
reduce the mil rate.  Tax commitment and mil rate setting 
completed. 

Update and expand financial policies 

 

In process Comprehensive evaluation of financial policies in process and draft 
revisions are in development. 

Maintain or improve bond rating 

 

In process Bond rating scheduled for January 2021. 
 
 
  



TOWN MANAGER ANNUAL GOALS 
STATUS REPORT – Q4 

2   December 14, 2020 
 

Develop a comprehensive technology master plan to inform the capital 
improvement program 

On going Network reconstruction underway for Police Dept to stabilize the IT 
environment. 

Improve Organizational Efficiency  
Improve organizational efficiency through implementation of 
technology and amendments to Charter, Ordinance and Policy  

On going Transitioned Dump Stickers, Fort Foster Passes and other services 
online.  Updated GIS software to provide greater information.  
Parking ticket system online. 
 

Implement the Comprehensive Plan 5 Year Action Plan, specifically focused on the following 
Support Climate Adaptation Committee’s efforts 

 
In process Flood Resiliency Checklist process completed.  Joined regional 

effort to develop strategies and plan for climate adaptation with 
other York County communities.  Joined Coastal Communities grant 
to develop more effective training and tools for citizen scientist 
wetlands monitoring.  Served on Gov Mill’s Climate Council 
Transportation Working Group. Developing GHG emission 
inventory through ICLEI tool; applied for EV charging station at 
Town hall; partnering with five other communities on a community 
solar project proposal. 
 

Complete JLUS study and identify funding for implementation of action 
plan 

 

Complete JLUS study completed in February.  Implementation grant awarded 
in June.  Consultant hired, Implementation Com begins meeting in 
Nov. 

Finish Library design process and commence construction 
 

In process Design development phase complete.  Construction Docs phase 
complete.  Planning Board permits approved. Maine Historic 
adverse determination in negotiation.  GMP negotiation nearing 
completion. Ground breaking anticipated Mar 2021. 

Town Assets and Infrastructure 
Develop recommendations for the reuse or disposition of various town 
owned or tax-acquired properties. 

In process Taylor Bldg Com reviewing RFPs and developing recommendations 
for Council.  Acquired clean title for Old Post and Walker Street 
properties.  Council approved option to direct proceeds from sale 
of tax-acquired properties to affordable housing program.  
Proposed transition from Walker St. ambulance bldg to Gorges 
Road; proposal withdrawn due to inability to make it cost neutral.  
Will revisit. 
 



TOWN MANAGER ANNUAL GOALS 
STATUS REPORT – Q4 

3   December 14, 2020 
 

Develop a sidewalk master plan for replacement, enhancement and 
addition of town sidewalks 

In process Engineering underway for Stevenson sidewalk.  $24,000 grant 
award for pedestrian/bike master plan through KACTS. RFP being 
finalized for ped/bike master plan, anticipated RFP release in Dec. 
 
 

Develop and Sustain the Professional Staff   
Complete contract negotiations in a timely fashion  In process Due to COVID, completed one-year extensions with all unions. 

Plan for addressing increasing demands for police, fire and public works 
services 

In process Due to COVID, budget could not accommodate increase in staffing.  
COPS and SAFER grant applications submitted for Police and Fire.  
Police application was unsuccessful this round.  Fire application 
was unsuccessful this round. 
 

 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

December 14, 2020     1 

 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

2 – Natural 
Resources & 
Recreation 

Establish mechanisms to protect 
visual assets such as creating a 
photographic documentation of 
scenic vistas and establishing an 
historic preservation committee to 
create a comprehensive inventory 
of historic resources.  These are the 
first steps in helping to protect and 
promote those visual assets that 
contribute to Kittery’s uniqueness.  
(2.1) 

• Conduct an inventory of historic resources, including 
landscapes, archaeological resources and buildings. 

 

 

2 – Natural 
Resources & 
Recreation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Review existing hunting regulations 
and provide public education 
regarding these to improve the 
safety of residents especially in the 
Town Forest, while at the same time 
protecting resident’s right to carry 
firearms and hunt. (2.2) 
 

• Create signage about hunting safety and regulations at 
Town Forest & Rogers Park 

In process 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

December 14, 2020     2 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

3 - Economic 
Development 

Engage in targeted outreach to 
business and industry sectors 
marketing Kittery’s economic 
development areas.  (3.5) 

• Improve town website and have routine maintenance. 
• Identify similar business or industry partners who may 

have insights on what businesses in those sectors are 
looking for in terms of amenities, infrastructure, 
costs/revenues, workforce characteristics, etc. 

• Talk with brokers and real estate agents about 
marketing property in Kittery. 

• Work with land owners to actively market properties 
through websites and brokers. 

 
 

Website updated, expanded 
use of email and social media 
to share info.   
 
Kittery new member of 
Chamber of Commerce 
 
Regular meetings with 
Foreside Business Group and 
outreach to Rte 1 and Bypass 
businesses. 
 

4 – Housing Undertake to complete a 
Comprehensive town-wide Housing 
Plan that will document existing 
supply and identify needs and ways 
of meeting these, including 
methods for encouraging the 
development of affordable housing 
(e.g. creation of new types of 
housing, including workforce 
housing, and housing for seniors 
wishing to downsize, etc.).  (4.1) 
 

• Create a scope and request for proposals to undertake 
a comprehensive town-wide housing plan. Plan should 
include in-depth analysis of housing supply, demand, 
and strategies to encourage a variety of housing types 
and prices points.  

• Explore possibility of local regional planning 
commission undertaking the study on behalf of the 
town. 

 

Affordable Housing 
ordinances implemented.  
Housing Com established. 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

December 14, 2020     3 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

5 – Transportation Evaluate Town-wide current parking 
conditions and policies and revise to 
meet development goals by 
improving management of existing 
spaces and exploring shared parking 
and other strategies. (5.4) 
 
 

• Review and revise town code to support goal. Title 10 revisions completed 
for Foreside.  Badger’s Island 
completed. 
JLUS complete.  
Implementation grant 
approved. 
 
Walker/Wentworth revisions 
enacted by Council. 
 
Parking count for Foreside 
underway. 

7 - Municipal 
Facilities, Services, &  
Fiscal Capacity 
 

Increase and improve 
communication with Town 
residents.  Using a variety of modes 
including the internet and cable TV 
in innovative ways will help to keep 
residents more informed and 
connected to town government. 
(7.1) 

• Become more efficient by streamlining the permitting 
process. 

• Update town’s GIS maps and establish a system for 
continuous update. 

• Explore ways of reaching the largest number of 
residents and conduct outreach to actively recruit 
volunteers, especially representation of demographics 
that are currently missing or underrepresented. 

• Develop clear messaging regarding what the boards 
and committees do, roles and expectations and 
information regarding opportunities and benefits of 
participation.  

 

Online permitting launched.  
Implemented use of social 
media to expand resident 
participation on Boards. 
 
GIS upgrade complete. 
 
Use of Channel 22, FB, Twitter, 
and website expanded. 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

December 14, 2020     4 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

7 - Municipal 
Facilities, Services, &  
Fiscal Capacity 

Educate residents about town 
planning roles and processes and 
ensure that planning and town 
management processes are open, 
transparent, informative, inclusive, 
respectful and welcoming. (7.1) 
 

• Explore the use of communication technologies to 
increase the communication between residents and 
Town government. 

• Revise Town Code so that regulations are clear and 
easy to use and are aligned with Comprehensive Plan 
goals. 
 
 

Use of Social Media, Channel 
22, and website increased. 
 
Title 16 recodification near 
completion. 
 

Finalizing policy for reverse 911 
implementation. 

7 - Municipal 
Facilities, Services, &  
Fiscal Capacity 

Develop a long-range plan for the 
library including where the library 
will be located (renovation and 
expansion on existing site, new 
building on another site) and 
whether the Library should become 
a Town Department. (7.2) 
 

• Explore possibilities and compare and contrast 
advantages and disadvantages of sites being 
considered for Library facility. 

• Consider converting the Library to a Town Department. 
• Support Library Director’s efforts to support literacy, 

digitize the library’s collection of photographs, and to 
provide support and programming for the increasing 
elderly population. 
 
 

Library design completed, 
groundbreaking targeted for 
March 2021. 
 
 
Library is now a Town 
Department. 

7 - Municipal 
Facilities, Services, &  
Fiscal Capacity 

and 
8 – Land Use 

Guide development to areas already 
served by public utilities, resulting in 
a more efficient and cost-effective 
use of these public services. (7.3) 
(8.1) 
 

• Direct new development where feasible, to vacant or 
underutilized sites and buildings; direct development 
away from areas with natural constraints, key wildlife or 
open space corridors, protected shorelands, and areas 
where public utilities are not yet available and would be 
costly to extend.  

• Add utilities map to GIS. 
• Establish efficient permitting procedures, especially in 

areas designated as “growth areas” in Future Land Use 
Plan.  

 

Mixed Use Neighborhood 
rezoning complete. 
 
Affordable housing ordinance 
enacted. 
 
GIS upgrade complete. 
 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES 

December 14, 2020     5 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

8 – Land Use 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Review, update and incorporate 
where appropriate, the 
recommendations from the 
Foreside Forums.  Residents have 
expressed much enthusiasm for 
recent improvements in the 
Foreside and support for future infill 
development that is appropriate in 
scale and activity. (8.3) 

• Study the opportunities and challenges associated with 
the Foreside area to determine if the zoning district 
boundaries should change in the future. Identify 
desired uses. Identify the regulations and infrastructure 
needed to support the future of the area. 

 

Zoning review underway in 
conjunction with affordable 
housing effort. 
 
Reviewing tax acquired and 
Town owned property for 
potential beneficial infill. 

9 - Coastal 
Community 
Resilience 
 
 

Complete a climate adaptation 
study to plan for the potential 
impacts of sea level rise and prepare 
for extreme weather events (9.1) 

 

• Complete a Climate Adaption Study. Climate adaptation committee 
formed.  Flood resiliency 
checklist complete.  Flood 
vulnerability assessment 
complete.  Kittery joined with 
regional climate adaptation 
planning.  Kittery a member of 
ICLEI.  EV charging station 
grant application in process. 
Incorporating sustainability 
evaluation into CIP. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
SECONDARY OBJECTIVES 
 

December 14, 2020     6 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

SECONDARY OBJECTIVES 
2- Natural Resources 
& Recreation 

Working with the Kittery Land Trust, develop a 
strategy for open space acquisition, setting 
priorities for parcels to be included. (2.1)  

• Complete an inventory of open spaces in Kittery. 
• Consider purchase of unprotected open spaces. 
• Create/amend zoning to prohibit destruction of 

wetlands (high value, wildlife corridors) and add 
farmland and unprotected open space for review. 

• Revisit the inventory of scenic views defined in the 1999 
Comprehensive Plan Update, making a photographic 
record (survey) and updating the inventory, as needed. 

 

 

2- Natural Resources 
& Recreation 

and 
8 – Land Use 

Protect existing open lands, including farmlands 
and wetlands from over-development by 
implementing effective strategies such as larger 
minimum lot sizes in the rural residential zone. As 
one way of preserving Kittery’s rural character, 
review and revise the cluster zoning ordinance and 
provide incentives for developers to use the 
ordinance. (2.1) (8.1) (8.2) 
 

• Review/Revise Cluster Zoning Law  



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
SECONDARY OBJECTIVES 
 

December 14, 2020     7 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

2- Natural Resources 
& Recreation 

Reduce dog and horse waste at area open spaces 
through enhanced enforcement and public 
education. (2.2) 

• Increase awareness regarding enforcement of pet waste 
ordinance, support the efforts of the Police. 

• Establish Volunteer Dog Patrol.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hired full time 
ACO. 
 
Phase 1 Title 6 
update 
complete.  AC 
Working Group 
formed. 
 

2 – Natural 
Resources & 
Recreation 

and 
5 – Transportation 

and 
6 – Marine 
Resources 

and 
7 - Municipal 
Facilities, Services, &  
Fiscal Capacity 
 

Continue to support healthy lifestyle choices and 
wellness by increasing recreational opportunities 
for all ages, evaluating the Athletic Fields Master 
Plan, improving walking and biking infrastructure 
so that it is safe and pleasant, ensuring appropriate 
recreational access to the waterfront, and 
increasing awareness of existing resources. 
Updating the Sidewalks Conditions Report (5.2.1) 
and developing a Bike Plan are among the specific 
steps recommended (2.2) (2.2.6) (5.2) (6.1) (7.2)  
 

• Monitor athletic field planning process. 
• Evaluate opportunities for providing bike infrastructure 

on roads including bike lanes, wide shoulders and “Share 
the Road” signs (ex. “sharrows” and stencils). 

• Develop a sidewalk and pedestrian plan including 
updating sidewalk conditions report and inventory to 
identify existing conditions and gaps in the pedestrian 
network. Identify opportunities for new trails. 

• Work with schools, Community Center and Town 
Departments to prioritize sidewalk projects on town-
owned facilities and recreational areas.  

• Update street and publicly owned shade tree inventory. 
 

Athletic Field 
Master Plan 
accepted, 
Committee 
working on 
updating it to 
reflect 
completed work. 
Sidewalk master 
plan 
development 
underway. 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
SECONDARY OBJECTIVES 
 

December 14, 2020     8 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

3 - Economic 
Development 

Collaborate with property owners in the area 
around the Route 1 corridor to identify strategies 
towards making mutually beneficial changes to the 
area including exploring options to redevelop 
commercial properties with mixed use (e.g. retail, 
housing, office) and consider zoning amendments 
such as an overlay district to provide more flexibility 
concerning permitted uses. (3.3) (8.5) 
 

• Draft a scope of work for planning, market analysis, and 
transportation engineering services to re-envision the 
Route 1 area.  
 

New grant 
opportunities 
being evaluated. 

6 – Marine 
Resources 

and 
8 – Land Use 

Continue to support Kittery’s maritime based 
economy including the fishing and shell fishing 
industry by maintaining access to the working 
waterfront and creating innovative avenues to 
better connect fishing to the local economy. (6.2) 
(8.4) 
 

• Conduct poll/outreach/meetings with commercial 
fishermen and boat operators to determine need (KPA). 

• Conduct poll/outreach/meetings with commercial 
fishermen and boat operators to identify areas where 
navigation is difficult or impossible due to shallow 
depths (KPA). 
 

Survey on 
Pepperrell Cove 
depths 
completed. 
 
 

6 – Marine 
Resources 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Increase awareness in residents and business 
owners with regard to the effects of pollutants, 
pesticides, and stormwater runoff and evaluate 
Town Code regarding the use of pesticides and 
herbicides with chemicals, in waterfront areas and 
town-wide.  Providing information and incentives 
for greener practices will help to mitigate these 
environmental hazards. (6.3) 
 

• Prepare easy-to-read materials that summarize Kittery’s 
water quality challenges and the effects of pollutants 
and pesticides. Distribute to property and business 
owners, and post on municipal website.  
 

Lawn care 
training 
conducted.  
Town transition 
to 
environmentally 
sustainable 
pesticide 
treatment 
complete. 



KITTERY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
5 YEAR ACTION PLAN 
SECONDARY OBJECTIVES 
 

December 14, 2020     9 

TOPIC  
AREA 

 
GOAL 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

 
STATUS 

8 – Land Use Consider an Adaptive Reuse Ordinance to guide 
redevelopment of existing buildings.  By promoting 
the reuse of existing structures more efficient 
development can occur in areas already services by 
public utilities and protecting open land from 
development.  (8.1) 

• Consider adopting a demolition delay ordinance.  
• Consider adopting Adaptive Reuse Ordinance. 

 

 

9 - Coastal 
Community 
Resilience 
 

Develop a Plan for Town facilities and property 
owners to transition to low and zero impact energy 
sources (9.2) 
 

• Establish a timeline for converting all Town-owned 
buildings to renewable energy.  
 

Physical 
constraints of 
municipal sites 
make PV 
challenging. 
Evaluation of 
renewal power 
purchase 
options 
complete. 
 
Sustainable and 
low impact 
development 
ordinances in 
development. 
 

 


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2020.12.14 TMR.pdf
	Sincerely,
	____________________      12:45 PM
	Kohl Kanwit        (Effective Time)
	Commissioner’s Designee – Director, Bureau of Public Health
	April 25, 2017
	ADPF19C.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	2020.12.14 Title 2 Earned Paid Leave.pdf
	ADP3D6A.tmp
	PROPOSED TITLE 2 REVISIONS
	Proposed Solution/Recommendation


	2020.12.14 Title 16 Outdoor Dining.pdf
	ADPF010.tmp
	CHAPTER 16 OUTDOOR DINING
	1. ADD Outdoor Dining Definition to Title 16 definitions as follows:
	2. ADD Outdoor Dining Design and Performance Standards for the Built Environment as follows:



	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2020.12.14 TMR.pdf
	Sincerely,
	____________________      12:45 PM
	Kohl Kanwit        (Effective Time)
	Commissioner’s Designee – Director, Bureau of Public Health
	April 25, 2017
	ADPF19C.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	Blank Page



